STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2018-CP-46-02684
Appellate Case No. 2020-000612

RECEIVED

Oct 05 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Home Builders Association of South Carolina, Home Builders Association
of York County, Soni Construction, Inc., Shea Investment Fund 2, LLC, and Shea
Investment Fund 3, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

State of South Carolina and York County,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Keith M. Babcock, SC Bar No. 456
Ariail E. King, SC Bar No. 8952
1513 Hampton Street
Post Office box 11208
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 771-8000

kmb@lewisbabcock.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court err in finding that the South Carolina Development Fee Impact Act is not unconstitutionally vague or violative of due process where it fails to define affordability, fails to provide any consequence for a negative effect on housing affordability and contains no limitation on the amount of the fee?
2. Did the lower court err in finding that neither the South Carolina Development Fee Impact Act nor the York County Ordinances passed thereunder impose an exaction or taking where the impact fee was increased over 700 percent?
3. Did the lower court err in finding that the York County Ordinances substantially complied with the requirements of the Act where the Ordinances used faulty assumptions, was not properly supported by sound engineering studies, and manipulated data to meet self-selected affordability benchmarks?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Home Builders Association of South Carolina, Home Builders Association of York County, Soni Construction, Inc., Shea Investment Fund 2, LLC, and Shea Investment Fund 3, LLC, filed this case in 2019 against the State, York County, and the York County Council members.¹ (R.p. 28). The Amended Complaint set forth causes of action for a declaratory judgment that S.C. Code Ann. § 9-1-910, et seq., and the York County Ordinances passed July 16, 2018 were unconstitutional and effected a a taking in violation of South Carolina Const. art. 1, § 13 and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. (R.pp.35-46). On May 23, 2019, the parties entered into a Consent Order which bifurcated the declaratory judgment claim and set forth the procedure for discovery and trial of that cause of action. (R.p. 21).

The matter was tried before the Honorable William A. McKinnon on December 9-10, 2019. (R.p. 96). At the beginning of the trial, the Court heard Appellants' motion seeking to substitute Soni Homes, Inc. for Soni Construction and that motion was granted. (R.p. 99, line 22-p.104, line 12). After a two-day non-jury trial, the Court issued a Decision of the Court in which Judge McKinnon ruled in favor of the Respondents (R.p. 4). Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, which was heard on March 11, 2020. (R.p. 2119; R.p. 1910). The Order denying Appellants' motion to alter or amend was filed on April 6, 2020. (R.p. 1). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The South Carolina Development Impact Fee Act., S.C. Code Ann. § 9-1-910, et seq.

¹ The individual council members were later dismissed by consent of the parties.

(“the Act”), states that a “governmental entity that has a comprehensive plan, as provided in Chapter 29 of this title, and which complies with the requirements of this article may impose a development impact fee.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-930. For years, the Act (first passed in 1999) did not include schools as one of the “public facilities” for which an impact fee could be imposed. Under the Act, impact fees could be imposed for other services; for example, in Fort Mill, there were impact fees of a \$1,280 for parks and recreation; \$152 for fire protection; and \$390 for municipal fees (R.p. 282, line 8-p. 283, line 1).

In 2016, a bill was introduced to amend S.C. Code Ann. § 9-1-970 that would exempt the school itself from paying a developmental impact fee when constructing a new school. An amendment to that bill altered the definition of “public facilities” in S.C. Code Ann. § 9-1-920, thereby allowing construction costs for new schools to be passed to homebuilders and/or homebuyers. This bill passed in the waning days of that legislative session with, apparently, very little debate or explanation. *See*, Legislative History of H.4416, S.C. General Assembly Session 121 (2015-2016), <https://www.scstatehouse.gov/billsearch.php>.

The Act enables governmental entities to impose a development impact fee (in this case for schools) for each unit of housing in a development where an individual building permit or certificate of occupancy is issued. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-940(A)(1). However:

Before imposing a development impact fee on residential units, a governmental entity shall prepare a report **which estimates the effect of recovering capital costs through impact fees on the availability of affordable housing** within the political jurisdiction of the governmental entity.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-930(A)(2) (emphasis added). The Act does not specify what constitutes “affordable housing.”

The Act provides that “the amount of the development impact fee must be based on actual improvement costs or reasonable estimates of the costs, **supported by sound engineering**

studies.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-930(B)(2) (emphasis added). Such studies are required before an impact fee goes into effect. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §6-1-950(A). To begin the process for adopting an impact fee ordinance, the governmental entity must direct the local planning commission to conduct studies and recommend an impact fee ordinance. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-950(A).

The only limitation on the amount of the fee is that the amount imposed on the payor “may not exceed a proportionate share of the costs incurred by the governmental entity in providing the system improvements to serve the new development.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-990(A). The proportionate share is the cost attributable to the development after the governmental entity reduced the amount to be imposed by:

- (1) appropriate credit, offset, or contribution of money, dedication of land, or construction of system improvements; and
- (2) all other sources of funding the system improvements including funds obtained from economic development incentives or grants secured which are not required to be repaid.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-990(A). However, as long as the statutory factors are used, there is no cap or limit on the amount of impact fee to be charged.² Because the Act provides no other limitations, each governmental entity passing an impact fee is, in effect, unrestrained in setting the amount of an impact fee.

Fort Mill School District No. 4 of York County (the “District”) is located in northern York County (the “County”) at the North Carolina line, near Charlotte (R.p. 332). The District encompasses roughly 50 square miles, and it contains the towns of Tega Cay and Fort Mill,

² Statutory caps are quite typical. For example, South Carolina law provides that once every fifth year, the county or State shall appraise property in its jurisdiction for tax assessment purposes. However, the South Carolina Real Property Valuation Reform Act caps the amount of the assessment: “Any increase in the fair market value of real property attributable to the periodic countywide appraisal and equalization program...is limited to fifteen percent within a five-year period to the otherwise applicable fair market value.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-3140.

together with the surrounding unincorporated areas. (Id.) In 1996, prior to the Act, York County enacted an impact fee ordinance, imposing a \$2,500 fee on new housing. (R.p. 332).

In 2016, York County Council member Michael Johnson proposed a moratorium on new residential building in the Fort Mill area. (R.p. 333). That proposal was voted down by the Council in May 2016. (Id.) York County Council then turned its attention to raising the impact fees for new development, which was really a pretext for a moratorium on building.

On July 16, 2018, York County Council passed two ordinances that raised the impact fee to \$18,158.00 for a new single-family dwelling unit and \$12,020.00 for a multi-family dwelling unit. (R.p. 337) Ordinance 2718 created the procedure to adopt the impact fee, its collection, expenditures, etc. (R.p. 763) Ordinance 2818 dictated the amount of the impact fees to be charged (hereinafter collectively referred to as “the Ordinance”). (R.p. 778)

The new impact fees constitute an increase of over 700 percent over the old fee. In addition, just a few months prior to the passage of the Ordinance, a bond referendum was passed to fund the construction of the same seven schools to be funded by the impact fee. (R.p. 159, lines 10-16). However, there is no evidence here that the bond referendum took into account the increased impact fee or vice versa. Of course, a bond spreads the cost of the schools to all homes while an impact fee burdens new construction only.

York County commissioned a study that purportedly supports the amount of the impact fee (referred to herein as “the Tischler Bise Study” or “the Study”) (R.p. 334). Carson Bise, an economist with Tischler Bise, prepared the Study. (Id.) Mr. Bise testified that \$18,158.00 for a new single family dwelling unit and \$12,020.00 for a multi-family dwelling unit was the *maximum* impact fee that could be imposed but that York County could have chosen any amount up to the maximum. (R.p. 1241, lines 10-24).

From the minutes of York County Council meeting approving the Ordinance, it does not appear that there was any discussion or consideration of adopting an impact fee in an amount lower than the maximum amount determined in the Study.³ Mr. Bise acknowledged that the Act does not prescribe any limit or threshold in determining the amount of the fee and its effect on housing affordability. (R.p. 1214, line 23-p. 1215, line 8; R.p. 266, lines 8-18; R.p. 267, line 20-p. 268, line 18). Because the Act does not limit the amount of fees, Mr. Bise applied his own limit based on guidelines from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”)(R.p. 267, line 28-p. 268, line 8). HUD has established a benchmark as to the percentage of income a family should pay for housing costs in order to be considered affordable. (R.p. 224, line 17-p. 225, line 6). According to this benchmark, HUD has defined cost-burdened families as those who pay more than 30 percent of their income for housing and who may have difficulty affording necessities such as food, clothing, transportation, and medical care. The Tischler Bise Study used this thirty percent benchmark when analyzing the affordability of housing, both with and without the imposition of the impact fee.

The Tischler Bise Study had eight drafts before the final one. (R.p. 265, line 10-p. 266, line 1). In the first two drafts, the Study included an analysis of housing affordability (both with and without the imposition of an impact fee), but the analysis was skewed because it analyzed both Fort Mill and Tega Cay together. (R.pp. 515-521; R.pp. 1279-1285). Tega Cay has a higher median income than Fort Mill, as Mr. Bise eventually acknowledged when he separated the entities in a June 4 draft of the Study (R.p. 227, lines 5-14; R.p. 276, line 22-p. 277, line 8;

³ This is particularly important in light of the Planning Commission’s initial recommendations that the impact fee for single family dwellings only be raised to \$5,038, and multi-family to only be raised to \$2,500 (and even though the school district had only initially sought a fee of \$10,000.00. (Rp. 334; R.p. 395).

R.p. 1194, lines 6-16). Thus, using a combined average median income to evaluate the cost burden of the fee on the affordability of housing is not appropriate. Moreover, none of the eight drafts which determined the maximum amount of impact fees were based on or supported “by sound engineering studies,” which is required by S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-930(B)(2). The absence of these required studies was brought to the attention of York County Council in a May 4, 2018 letter by Richard Unger, Esquire. (R.pp. 336-337; R.p. 654; R.p. 1640). York County disregarded these concerns. (R.pp. 689-691).

Dr. Joseph Von Nessen, a Research Economist from the University of South Carolina, appeared at the June 27, 2018 Special Meeting of the York County Council to address the April 2018 draft of the Study. (R.p. 547). Dr. Von Nessen’s report, which was submitted to the York County Council for the Special Meeting on June 27, 2018, noted that the Study combined the communities of Fort Mill and Tega Cay (and omitted unincorporated York County), thereby masking the cost burden imposed on Fort Mill, which has a significantly lower median income than Tega Cay. (R.p. 658).

After Dr. Von Nessen’s report was provided to Mr. Bise, he separated out the housing affordability analysis into three separate sections – Fort Mill, Tega Cay, and unincorporated York County--in a draft of the Study dated June 4, 2018. (R.p. 1389). When analyzed individually, the household income decreased for Fort Mill. In addition, the cost burden for both owner-occupied housing and renter-occupied housing significantly increased for Fort Mill. In fact, the owner-occupied housing cost burden for Fort Mill increased to 31.9% *before* the imposition of impact fees and increased to 33.5% after the imposition of impact fees. (R.p. 1420) This increase exceeds the 30% HUD benchmark established by Mr. Bise to determine the appropriateness of the amount of the impact fees. (Id.) Mr. Bise admitted that he issued the June

4, 2018 draft of the Study with the cost burden exceeding 30% (the limit he had set) (R.p. 1214, line 23-p. 1216, line 19; R.p. 294, line 4-p. 295, line 14). However, he testified that he was not bothered that it exceeded the limit because the Act does not prohibit an impact fee that exceeds the 30 percent cost burden set by HUD. (Id.).

In later drafts of the Study, the three areas of Fort Mill, Tega Cay, and unincorporated York County were again combined into one affordability analysis, which was apparently done to lower the housing affordability cost burden to less than 30 percent (the cost burden established by HUD and the one that Mr. Bise admitted was the benchmark in order for a buyer to obtain a mortgage). (R.p. 281, lines 2-9)

The Tischler Bise Study was also based on incorrect assumptions. For example, at the June 27, 2018 Special Meeting of the York County Council Dr. Von Nessen explained that:

[T]he TischlerBise Study [commissioned by School District] makes unrealistic assumptions that do not reflect the realities of York County, South Carolina.
Assumption 1 - 20% down payment. Assumption 2- 4.25% interest rate.
Assumption 3 - \$78,652 median household income.

(R.p. 547). With regard to Dr. Von Nessen's criticism that many/most homes buyers in South Carolina did not pay 20% down for a mortgage, Mr. Bise testified that he used the 20% figure in determining the impact fees "[b]ecause most mortgages require a 20 percent down" but admitted he had no other basis for that assumption. (R.p. 1190, line 10-p. 1191, line 22; R.p. 272, line12-p. 273, line 15). According to Dr. Von Nessen, an expert in economics and housing in South Carolina, the average down payment for mortgages is closer to 11 percent. (R.p. 225, lines 7-25). The Tischler Bise Study also did not consider the fact that mortgage interest rates could rise. (R.p. 226, line 5-p. 227, line 4). Obviously, a lower down payment and increased mortgage rates would affect the affordability analysis and cost burden of housing.

With the dramatic increase in impact fees, the homebuilders cannot pass on the cost to the

home buyers, as home builders Mukash Patel and John Shea explained at trial. (R.p. 168, lines 19-23; R.p. 182, lines 3-25). Because the homebuilders had already purchased lots (and begun infrastructure such as roads), prior to the passage of the Ordinance, they have no option other than to build the houses and absorb the increased cost, which is substantial. (R.p. 169, line 20-p. 170, line 18; R.p. 182, lines 3-25). In fact, Mr. Shea testified that in just over a year since the new impact fee was imposed, his companies paid approximately \$500,000.00 in fees. (R.p. 181, lines 7-24). In effect, the home builders have “captive land,” purchased at the time of the old fee but which is now subject to the new fee.⁴ As Mr. Shea testified, the impact fee cannot just be added on to the price of the house because the price is set by the market. (R.p. 182, lines 24-25). For example, buyers have choices such as buying a resale which does not have an \$18,158.00 fee added to it or buying in a nearby county with good schools such as Union County, NC, that does not impose an impact fee. (R.p. 184, line 15-p. 185, line 11). Mr. Nix’s testimony further explained that there is a “housing pyramid” where the lowest (and largest) level is \$100,000 or less, and then as the pyramid goes up and gets smaller, the prices go up, with the top being houses of \$1 million or more. (R.p. 157, lines 7-16). Obviously, a homebuyer of a \$1 million house can easily afford an additional \$18,158 impact fee, but the homebuyers further down the pyramid cannot.⁵

It is obvious that other homebuilders are similarly affected. Jenifer Gooch, an expert in new home construction in the Charlotte metro area, testified that new home construction significantly decreased after the imposition of the new impact fee. (R.p. 202, line 23-p. 203, line

⁴ The Ordinance could have easily exempted or “grandfathered” in land that had already been purchased by the home builders but it did not.

⁵ Mr. Nix also noted that the school impact fee decreases the affordability of housing in Fort Mill, thereby pricing out the teachers at Fort Mill School District 4 from living in the area where they work. (R.p. 157, lines 17-24).

5). In fact, the new home construction was down 30% from the first quarter of 2019 to the second quarter. (Id). Other counties in the metro area without an impact fee have increased their new home construction. (R.p. 204, lines 5-9). From 2018 to 2019, Fort Mill is down 28 percent. (R.p. 203, lines 17-22). The inventory level of vacant lots also increased. (R.p. 204, lines 10-21). As Ms. Gooch explained at trial, if construction rates slow down, the inventory of available lots increase, as no houses are being built. (R.p. 204, line 14-p. 205, line 6). Ms. Gooch also testified that she evaluated the future lot development pipeline and that, from second quarter 2018 (prior to the new fee) and the second quarter of 2019, future development was down 9.8 percent. (R.p. 205, lines 7-20). She noted that if not for one large development by Lennar, development would have been down 40 percent. (R.p. 205, line 17-p. 206, line 2).

The effect of the impact fee is apparent. Appellants Shea and Patel, as owners/developers of land for residential property, must either absorb the costs themselves, which substantially lowers profit margins, or pass along the increased costs to the homebuyer, which affects the affordability for housing for homes in the lower to middle portion of the housing pyramid.⁶ (R.p. 157, lines 7-16). As Mr. Shea testified, it is virtually impossible to pass on the costs to the homebuyer. Furthermore, by burdening the affordability of housing in Fort Mill, teachers, policeman, fireman and other less affluent professional people are priced out of the very area in which they work. (R.p. 182, lines 24-25; R.p. 184, line 15-p. 185, line 11; R.p 157, lines 7-16).

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

⁶ As one North Carolina court noted, a public facilities ordinance is a “revenue generation mechanism that effectively establishes a ‘pay-to-build’ system for developers.” Lanvale Properties, LLC v. Cty. of Cabarrus, 366 N.C. 142, 731 S.E.2d 800 (2012).

This matter proceeded as a non-jury trial before the Honorable William A. McKinnon. In an action at law, tried without a jury, an order will be overturned if found to be without evidence to support the judge’s findings of fact. Towns Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). In addition, “[w]hile a trial court's findings of fact in a nonjury action at law should not be disturbed on appeal unless they are without evidentiary support, a reviewing court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court. Hunt v. Forestry Com'm, 358 S.C. 564, 569, 595 S.E.2d 846, 848–49 (Ct. App. 2004).

I. The Court erred in finding that the South Carolina Development Fee Act is not unconstitutionally vague or violative of due process.

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