THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Oct 02 2020

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas
William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2020-000612

Home Builders Association of South Carolina, Home Builders Association
Of York County, Soni Construction, Inc., Shea Investment Fund 2, LLC, and
Shea Investment Fund 3, LLC, Appellants,

v.

State of South Carolina and York County Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ROBERT D. COOK
Solicitor General
S.C. Bar No. 1373

J. EMORY SMITH, JR.
Deputy Solicitor General
S.C. Bar No. 5262

Office of the Attorney General

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The State concurs in Respondent York County's Statement of the Issues and adds the following:

1. Did Appellants state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action against the State as to the Ordinance when the State of South Carolina did not enact the ordinance at issue and does not implement or enforce it?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State concurs in the Statement of the Case of Respondent York County.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The State concurs in the Standard of Review of Respondent York County.

ARGUMENT

The State concurs in the legal arguments of Respondent York County as to the constitutionality of the Development Impact Fee Act and adds the following.

Introduction

As stated in *State v. Neuman*, 384 S.C. 395, 402, 683 S.E.2d 268, 271 (2009):

This Court has a limited scope of review in cases involving a constitutional challenge to a statute because all statutes are presumed constitutional and, if possible, will be construed to render them valid." *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 569, 549 S.E.2d 591, 597 (2001). "A 'legislative act will not be declared unconstitutional unless its repugnance to the constitution is clear and beyond a reasonable doubt.' " *In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. 122, 134–35, 568 S.E.2d 338, 344 (2002) (quoting *Joytime Distribs. & Amusement Co. v. State*, 338 S.C. 634, 640, 528 S.E.2d 647, 650 (1999)). "A possible constitutional construction must prevail over an unconstitutional interpretation." *Curtis*, 345 S.C. at 569–70, 549 S.E.2d at 597.

Plaintiffs have not and cannot meet these strict standards of proving unconstitutionality. The Act (S.C. Code Ann. §6-1-910, *et seq.*) provides a formula for the calculation of fees that is

proportional to the impact of the development, sets limits on the amount of fees that may be charged and does not in any way effect a taking or exaction under State or Federal law.

Plaintiffs' challenge to the Act is surprising because the Act does the opposite of what they allege. It is not vague and sets limits to the fees a local government may charge. It does not require local governments to impose a fee. Accordingly, it does not cause an unconstitutional taking or otherwise violate the State and Federal constitutions.

Subject to certain exceptions for special or public purpose districts not pertinent here, the Act bars any governmental entity from imposing a development impact fee unless it has adopted a comprehensive plan or capital improvements plan that is compliant with the Act. §6-1-930. Capital improvements plans are to be adopted by ordinance following public notice and a public hearing. §6-1-960. Among other provisions, §6-1-930 directs the following:

(A)(1) “[b]efore imposing a development impact fee on residential units, a governmental entity shall prepare a report which estimates the effect of recovering capital costs through impact fees on the availability of affordable housing within the political jurisdiction of the governmental entity” . . . [Affordable housing is defined in §6-1-920(1) to mean “housing affordable to families whose incomes do not exceed eighty percent of the median income for the service area or areas within the jurisdiction of the governmental entity.”]

(B)(2) The amount of the development impact fee must be based on actual improvement costs or reasonable estimates of the costs, supported by sound engineering studies.

Section 6-1-980 of the Act caps the fee that may be charged as follows:

(A) The impact fee for each service unit may not exceed the amount determined by dividing the costs of the capital improvements by the total number of projected service units that potentially could use the capital improvement. If the number of new service units projected over a reasonable period of time is less than the total number of new service units shown by the approved land use assumptions at full development of the service area, the maximum impact fee for each service unit must be calculated by dividing the costs of the part of the capital improvements necessitated by and attributable to the projected new service units by the total projected new service units.

(B) An impact fee must be calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Section 6-1-990 also contains the following limits on the fee:

(A) The impact fee imposed upon a fee payor may not exceed a proportionate share of the costs incurred by the governmental entity in providing system improvements to serve the new development. The proportionate share is the cost attributable to the development after the governmental entity reduces the amount to be imposed by the following factors:

- (1) appropriate credit, offset, or contribution of money, dedication of land, or construction of system improvements; and
- (2) all other sources of funding the system improvements including funds obtained from economic development incentives or grants secured which are not required to be repaid.

(B) In determining the proportionate share of the cost of system improvements to be paid, the governmental entity imposing the impact fee must consider the:

- (1) cost of existing system improvements resulting from new development within the service area or areas;
- (2) means by which existing system improvements have been financed;
- (3) extent to which the new development contributes to the cost of system improvements;
- (4) extent to which the new development is required to contribute to the cost of existing system improvements in the future;
- (5) extent to which the new development is required to provide system improvements, without charge to other properties within the service area or areas;
- (6) time and price differentials inherent in a fair comparison of fees paid at different times; and
- (7) availability of other sources of funding system improvements including, but not limited to, user charges, general tax levies, intergovernmental transfers, and special taxation.

Section 6-1-1000 provides that “[a] developer required to pay a development impact fee may not be required to pay more than his proportionate share of the costs of the project, including the payment of money or contribution or dedication of land, or to oversize his facilities for use of others outside of the project without fair compensation or reimbursement.”

Section 6-1-1030 sets forth the following appeals procedure:

A) A governmental entity which adopts a development impact fee ordinance shall provide for administrative appeals by the developer or fee payor.

(B) A fee payor may pay a development impact fee under protest. A fee payor making the payment is not estopped from exercising the right of appeal provided in this article, nor is the fee payor estopped from receiving a refund of an amount considered to have been illegally collected. Instead of making a payment of an impact fee under protest, a fee payor, at his option, may post a bond or submit an irrevocable letter of credit for the amount of impact fees due, pending the outcome of an appeal.

(C) A governmental entity which adopts a development impact fee ordinance shall provide for mediation by a qualified independent party, upon voluntary agreement by both the fee payor and the governmental entity, to address a disagreement related to the impact fee for proposed development. Participation in mediation does not preclude the fee payor from pursuing other remedies provided for in this section or otherwise available by law.

I

THE ACT IS NOT VAGUE

The party seeking to invalidate the statute has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute violates some provision of the constitution”. *Town of Mount Pleasant v. Chimento*, 401 S.C. 522, 541, 737 S.E.2d 830, 842 (2012). The statute is clear on its face.

“[W]hen raising a claim of unconstitutional vagueness, the litigant must demonstrate that the challenged statute is vague as applied to his own conduct, regardless of its potentially vague application to others. *S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Michelle G.*, 407 S.C. 499, 507, 757 S.E.2d 388, 393 (2014). Plaintiffs do not allege that the statute is vague as to them, but even if they did, their

argument fails. As the Supreme Court has stated regarding other legislation, “a person of reasonable intelligence would understand the statute.” *Town of Mount Pleasant v. Chimento*, 401 S.C. 522, 535, 737 S.E.2d 830, 839 (2012). Although not ruling on vagueness, the Supreme Court certainly appears to have understood how the Act at issue operates as in the following:

“[t]he [Development Impact Fee] Act provides for the calculation of impact fees in several provisions. Section 6–1–940(1) requires that the ordinance include an explanation of the calculation of the fee. Section 6–1–930(B)(2) provides that the amount of the fee “must be based on actual improvement costs or reasonable estimates of the costs, supported by sound engineering studies.” Section 6–1–990 limits the impact fee to a proportionate share of the cost of improvements. Finally, § 6–1–980 provides . . . [for calculation of the impact fee including the provision that] [t]he impact fee for each service unit may not exceed the amount determined by dividing the costs of the capital improvements by the total number of projected service units that potentially could use the capital improvement.”

Charleston Trident Home Builders, Inc. v. Town Council of Town of Summerville, 369 S.C. 498, 507–08, 632 S.E.2d 864, 869 (2006).

Appellants contend that the Act is vague as to housing affordability and the absence of a fixed monetary cap on the fee. As to housing affordability, they claim that the Act fails to define how to measure the impact of the fee on affordable housing, but this argument is contradicted by the express terms of §6-1-920(1) which define “affordable housing” to mean “housing affordable to families whose incomes do not exceed eighty percent of the median income for the service area or areas within the jurisdiction of the governmental entity.” Appellants further contend that the Act is vague because it fails to provide a consequence for a negative effect on housing affordability, but this argument does not go to vagueness. As this Court stated in its decision of January 30, 2020, and quoted in its Order denying Appellants’ Motion to Alter or Amend: “Plaintiffs’ claims about the affect on the availability of affordable housing are unavailing -- the Act does not prohibit impact fees that have a negative effect on housing affordability; it merely

requires that Council consider that effect in assessing a new fee. That was done.” R. Vol. 1, pp. 2, 13 (Order of 1.30. 20 at p. 10 and Order of 4.6.20 at p. 2). The circuit court rejected the monetary cap issue as follows:

Though the Act does not provide a certain monetary cap on impact fees, it does provide guidance on how impact fees must be determined. The Act provides a specific set of criteria that must be considered by the District in setting a fee amount, and certain procedures that must be complied with when implementing an impact fee, including requiring a comprehensive plan that complies with generally accepted accounting principles. Additionally, the Act requires that the fees be limited to the family and the builder’s proportionate share of the costs of the project attributable to the new development. The Court finds that the Act is clear in its requirements to establish an impact fee, even if it does not provide a specific cap on the amount that can be charged. As such, the Court finds that the Act is not void for vagueness and does not violate due process.

R. Vol. 1, p. 11 (Order of 1.30.20 at p. 8).

Reasonable certainty in the enactment of statutes is required, and a statute which is so vague or indefinite that it cannot be executed will be declared void. *Gould v. Barton*, 256 S.C. 175, 185, 181 S.E.2d 662, 666 (1971). The Act clearly meets these standards of “reasonable certainty,” and Appellants have failed to meet their “burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute violates some provision of the constitution.” *Town of Mount Pleasant, supra*.

II

THE ACT DOES NOT EFFECT A TAKING OR EXACTION

A

The Act Does Not Effect A Taking Because It Does Not Direct That Impact Fee Ordinances Be Adopted

“The mere enactment of legislation which authorizes condemnation of property cannot be a taking. Such legislation may be repealed or modified, or appropriations may fail.” *Danforth v.*

United States, 308 U.S. 271, 286 (1939)(footnote omitted); *see also*, *Gorham v. Pub. Bldg. Auth. of City of Providence*, 612 A.2d 708, 715 (R.I. 1992).¹ Accordingly, the statute at issue does not take property. It simply sets up requirements for ordinances, but does not mandate that impact fees be adopted. Moreover, impact fees, themselves, as discussed below, are not subject to takings analysis.

B

Impact Fees Are Not Subject to Takings Analysis

As stated by the United States Supreme Court in *Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Mgmt. Dist.*, 570 U.S. 595, 615, (2013):

It is beyond dispute that “[t]axes and user fees ... are not ‘takings.’” *Brown, supra*, at 243, n. 2, 123 S.Ct. 1406 (SCALIA, J., dissenting). We said as much in *County of Mobile v. Kimball*, 102 U.S. 691, 703, (1881), and our cases have been clear on that point ever since. *United States v. Sperry Corp.*, 493 U.S. 52, 62, n. 9 (1989); *see A. Magnano Co. v. Hamilton*, 292 U.S. 40, 44 (1934); *Dane v. Jackson*, 256 U.S. 589, 599 (1921); *Henderson Bridge Co. v. Henderson City*, 173 U.S. 592, 614–615 (1899). This case therefore does not affect the ability of governments to impose property taxes, user fees, and similar laws and regulations that may impose financial burdens on property owners.

The parties agree that the impact fee is not a tax. Whether it is a user fee need not be decided because the impact fee should fall under the above reference to “similar laws and regulations that may impose financial burdens on property owners” which are not takings. *Koontz* was cited for this point in a Maryland case holding that “[i]mpact fees imposed by legislation applicable on an area-wide basis are not subject to *Nollan* and *Dolan* scrutiny.” *Dabbs v. Anne Arundel Cty.*, 458

¹ As stated in *Gorham, supra*: “[W]e are of the opinion that §45–50–13 did not effectuate a taking upon its enactment. Rather we construe it as conferring discretionary authority upon . . . authorities to take certain parcels. . . by eminent domain . . . Nothing contained therein mandates a taking as of the time of the statute's enactment; rather the appropriate authority is merely given the power to condemn certain parcels whenever it deems it to be necessary.”

Md. 331, 357, 182 A.3d 798, 813, *cert. denied sub nom. Dabbs v. Anne Arundel Cty., Md.*, 139 S. Ct. 230 (2018).² Some law review articles have reached similar conclusions.³ The Maryland Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the Court of Special Appeals which held that the takings clause did not apply to the impact fee at issue in that case. *Dabbs v. Anne Arundel Cty.*, 232 Md. App. 314, 334, 157 A.3d 381, 393 (2017).⁴ Accordingly, the Act does not create a taking under Federal or State law. Although the circuit court found that “an impact fee can be a taking in at least some circumstances,” it concluded that the fee at issue did not constitute a taking. R. Vol. 1, p. 12 (Order at p. 9).

² “*Nollan v. California Coastal Comm’n*, 483 U.S. 825 (1987), and *Dolan v. City of Tigard*, 512 U.S. 374, 1994), held that “a unit of government may not condition the approval of a land-use permit on the owner's relinquishment of a portion of his property unless there is a ‘nexus’ and ‘rough proportionality’ between the government's demand and the effects of the proposed land use.” *Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Mgmt. Dist.*, 570 U.S. 595, 599 [*supra*]. *Dabbs* 182 A.3d at 806.

³ “Legislatively determined impact or assessment fees, established outside the land-use permitting context, should not be subject to *Nollan/Dolan* scrutiny and should instead be tested under the applicable state law review standard” Shelley Ross Saxer, *When Local Government Misbehaves*, 2016 Utah L. Rev. 105, 166 (2016).

Koontz's heightened scrutiny should apply only to “the special context of land-use exactions” during a permitting process--when there are administrative, individualized, monetary exactions, designed to replace a physical exaction--rather than extend to all regulatory monetary obligations. Legislatively determined monetary conditions (such as impact fees) are distinguishable and should be governed by state law review standards, such as deferential review, statutory review, or the dual rational nexus test. (emphasis added).

Keeping Current-Property, Prob. & Prop., September/October 2016, at 14, 17–18.

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